STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

ORIGINAL

Appeal from Charleston County

Honorable Roger L. Couch, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V:

BRIAN CHRISTOPHER DAUGHERTY,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2017-000738

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LARA M. CAUDY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
P.O. Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

RECEIVED
APR 30 2018
SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial judge abuse his discretion by qualifying a state witness as an expert in the dynamics of child sexual abuse when the subject matter of her testimony was well within the realm of lay knowledge and did not assist the jury in understanding the evidence presented or in determining a fact in issue as required by Rule 702, SCRE, and where her testimony improperly bolstered the minor complainants' credibility?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Charleston County Grand Jury indicted Appellant on September 14, 2015 for three counts of first degree criminal sexual conduct (CSC) with a minor, three counts of second degree CSC with a minor, and two counts of lewd act upon a child, and on March 13, 2017 for an additional count of first degree CSC with a minor. R. 512. His case was called to trial on March 13, 2017 before the Honorable Roger Couch, and a jury. R. 1. Assistant Solicitors Deborah Herring Lash and Daniel Poulos represented the state, and Charles Cochran and Jessica Birt represented Appellant. R. 1.

Based on the state's concession, Judge Couch directed a verdict for one count of second degree CSC with a minor. R. 324, l. 4 – 325, l. 19. On March 16, 2017, the jury found Appellant guilty of four counts of first degree CSC with a minor, two counts of second degree CSC with a minor, and two counts of lewd act. R. 501, l. 10 – 502, l. 9. Judge Couch sentenced Appellant to twenty-five years for each count of first degree CSC with a minor, twenty years for each count of second degree CSC with a minor, and fifteen years for each count of lewd act. All sentences were ordered to be served concurrently. Appellant was also ordered to register as a sex offender and is subject to mandatory GPS monitoring upon his release from incarceration pursuant to S.C. Code § 23-3-540. R. 508, l. 11 – 509, l. 15.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellant began dating Older Sister and Younger Sister's aunt in August 2008, and shortly thereafter moved into the family's two bedroom apartment in North Charleston. The apartment was shared by Older Sister, Younger Sister, their grandmother, Rhonda Young, their mother, Lisa Batten, their aunt, Ashley Young, their younger sister, M.H., and eventually Appellant. R. 44, l. 5 – 45, l. 16; R. 94, l. 23 – 96, l. 3; R. 156, ll. 7-23; R. 207, l. 18 – 208, l. 20. Their grandmother Rhonda and Older Sister shared the master bedroom, and Appellant and Ashley shared the second bedroom. Younger Sister, M.H., and their mother, Lisa, slept in the living room. R. 45, ll. 17-23. All seven family members lived in this two bedroom apartment until May 2011 when Lisa and her daughters, Older Sister, Younger Sister, and M.H., moved into a single family home in Goose Creek with Lisa's fiancée, Benson Gomez. R. 94, ll. 13-17; R. 98, ll. 15-23; R. 155, l. 11 – 156, l. 6. Before moving out of the apartment, Gomez often spent the night at the apartment and slept in the living room. R. 96, ll. 20-24; R. 156, l. 13 – 157, l. 1; R. 163, ll. 6-7.

Younger Sister claimed Appellant sexually assaulted her when she was between the ages of six and eight years old while Appellant was living with the family. She claimed Appellant digitally penetrated her vagina, attempted penile penetration, and engaged in oral sex with her in the bedroom he shared with Ashley. She also alleged Appellant digitally penetrated her vagina on numerous occasions while the two were traveling alone in the car together. R. 85, l. 2 – 91, l. 1; R. 93, l. 8 – 96, l. 13. Younger Sister testified that during these alleged encounters Appellant showed her pornographic videos either on his cell phone or his laptop computer. R. 49, ll. 14-24; R. 59, l. 13 – 60, l. 9. She claimed Appellant told her that if she told anyone about the alleged abuse, he would hurt her. R. 52, ll. 4-8.

Older Sister likewise claimed Appellant digitally penetrated her vagina, attempted penile penetration, and engaged in oral sex with her in the bedroom he shared with Ashley. She also alleged Appellant sexually assaulted her in the car, exposed his penis to her while the two were alone at the community pool, and fondled her breasts while the two were in the apartment kitchen. Older Sister claimed this abuse occurred when she was between the ages of nine and eleven years old. R. 99, l. 2 – 109, l. 4; R. 115, l. 1 – 156, l. 10; Tr. 159, ll. 18-19. Like Younger Sister, she also testified that Appellant made her watch pornographic videos on his cell phone and laptop computer. Tr. 140, l. 19 – 141, l. 6; Tr. 155, l. 20 – 118, l. 10. According to Older Sister, the abuse allegedly stopped once Older Sister and her family moved to Goose Creek in May 2011. R. 124, ll. 12-14.

The indictments alleged the conduct occurred between April 2009 and May 2011. R. 512. However, Older Sister and Younger Sister did not disclose the alleged abuse until February 2015, nearly four years after the alleged abuse had stopped. They first told each other and then their stepfather, Benson Gomez. R. 65, ll. 8-24; R. 128, l. 16 -129, l. 22; R. 159, l. 8 – 160, l. 13; R. 220, l. 15 – 224, l. 11. After law enforcement was contacted, the two attended a forensic interview at Dorchester Children’s Center. R. 66, ll. 19-25; R. 130, ll. 3-11; R. 226, ll. 1-3. A recording of Younger Sister’s interview was played for the jury pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 17-23-175 without objection. R. 273, l. 11 – 275, l. 9.

Before Older Sister and Younger Sister disclosed to their stepfather, they each told a friend about the alleged abuse. When she was in the fifth grade, likely in 2012, Younger Sister told her friend L.B. R. 62, l. 23 – 63, l. 8. When L.B. said “he would have to tell his parents,” Younger Sister told L.B. that she “was just kidding” and nothing became of the alleged disclosure. R. 64, l. 16 – 65, l. 4; R. 202, l. 22 – 205, l. 13. Older Sister first told her friend Z.R. through text message when she was in the seventh grade during the 2011 to 2012 school year. Z.R. told her mother about

the allegations and her mother contacted authorities at Older Sister's school. When a law enforcement officer responded to Older Sister's home and questioned her about the allegations, Older Sister denied being sexually abused. R. 125, l. 8 – 127, l. 20; R. 196, l. 8 – 200, l. 8.

For whatever reason, neither Older Sister nor Younger Sister ever underwent a physical examination despite being referred to do so by the forensic interviewer. R. 242, l. 20 – 243, l. 23; R. 276, l. 18 – 277, l. 14. Needless to say, there was no physical or forensic evidence of sexual abuse. The sole evidence against Appellant was Older Sister and Younger Sister's allegations.

Appellant testified in his own defense and vehemently denied sexually assaulting Older Sister and Younger Sister. R. 331, ll. 10-20; R. 334, ll. 16-24; R. 337, l. 20 – 338, l. 1. Ashley Young and Rhonda Young, who were still living with Appellant at the time of trial, both testified that there was little opportunity for Appellant to sexually assault the complainants given the number of people who lived in the apartment and their schedules, and that he was rarely alone with either Older Sister or Younger Sister. They also disputed specific portions of the girls' accounts, such as the allegation that Appellant was alone at the pool with Older Sister. R. 369, l. 21 – 370, l. 14; R. 397, l. 17 – 399, l. 7; R. 401, l. 12 – 402, l. 9.

ARGUMENT

The trial judge abused his discretion by qualifying a state witness as an expert in the dynamics of child sexual abuse when the subject matter of her testimony was well within the realm of lay knowledge and did not assist the jury in understanding the evidence presented or in determining a fact in issue as required by Rule 702, SCRE, and where her testimony improperly bolstered the minor complainants' credibility.

How the Issue was Presented Below

When the state moved to qualify Carole Swiecicki as an expert in the dynamics of child sexual abuse, after her initial *voir dire*, defense counsel objected. R. 283, l. 24 – 284, l. 8. After the judge excused the jury, counsel argued:

Typically in these cases this type of expert witness will testify to delayed disclosure, typical or atypical behavior of child abuse victims, family members, things like that. Basically what ends up happening is there is testimony that essentially all behavior is normal, no behavior excludes the possibility of sexual abuse. That some children delay their disclosure. Some children disclose immediately. Some family members don't believe them. Some family members do believe them. And what our argument is is not that she doesn't deal with this at an expert level necessarily, but **what she is testifying to, what she's being offered for is not anything that a common juror wouldn't know.**

That sometimes people would delay a disclosure about sexual trauma. Sometimes they will disclose immediately. Sometimes their parents will believe them, sometimes they wouldn't. Sometimes it would affect their behavior, sometimes it wouldn't. That's basically the gist of the testimony. Every single time. And **it's just not [an] expertise. It does not help the jury decide something that they did not already know.**

R. 284, l. 4 – 285, l. 23 (emphasis added).

While emphasizing that the testimony of forensic interviewers has been severely limited by our appellate courts, defense counsel acknowledged there is some recent unfavorable case law in South Carolina concerning his objection, but that “because the case law is changing so rapidly

and drastically” in the area of child sexual abuse prosecutions, he believed the objection was necessary and warranted. R. 286, ll. 1-13.

The assistant solicitor cited to State v. Brown, 411 S.C. 332, 341, 768 S.E.2d 246, 250 (Ct. App. 2015), where this Court, quoting State v. Weaverling, 337 S.C. 460, 474-475, 523 S.E.2d 787, 794 (Ct. App. 1999), held “[e]xpert testimony concerning common behavioral characteristics of sexual assault victims and the range of responses to sexual assault encountered by experts is admissible.” R. 286, l. 17 – 287, l. 12. The solicitor asserted that in Brown the Court held blind expert testimony concerning the dynamics of child sexual abuse, like that of Carole Swiecicki, the state’s proposed expert, is beyond the common knowledge of the lay juror and admissible. R. 286, l. 17 – 287, l. 12.

After confirming that Swiecicki had no knowledge of the allegations made by Older Sister and Younger Sister, the trial judge qualified her as an expert in the dynamics of child sexual abuse pursuant to this Court’s holding in Brown. R. 288, l. 18 – 290, l. 15. The state did not proffer any of her testimony beyond her statement that she did not know anything about the specific allegations raised by Older Sister and Younger Sister. R. 289, l. 16 – 290, l. 4.

Swiecicki’s Testimony Before the Jury

After being qualified as an expert in the dynamics of child sexual abuse, Carole Swiecicki testified about delayed disclosures. She claimed that “between 25 and about 40, 43 percent of children disclose immediately within that first month [after the abuse occurred]. So slightly over half of children delay more than one month. And pretty consistent in those studies about 25 percent of children who are abused as children don’t tell anyone until they’re adults.” R. 292, ll. 9-22. Based on studies where children merely told researchers why they delayed disclosing abuse, Swiecicki maintained that children delay disclosing due to “anticipated

negative consequences.” For example, “they don’t tell because they think they are going to get in trouble. They are afraid that their parents will be mad at them . . . They also talk about feared consequences to the offender. The vast majority of times with sexual abuse the offender is someone that the child and family knows.” R. 293, l. 8 – 294, l. 13.

Throughout her direct examination, the assistant solicitor blatantly tailored her questions to fit the allegations made by Older Sister and Younger Sister. For example, the solicitor asked whether the relationship between the offender and the child can impact disclosure. R. 294, ll. 20-22. Swiecicki claimed “when the offender is somebody that’s in the family, be it an uncle, stepparent, someone that’s within the family, the child is more likely to delay their disclosure.” R. 294, l. 23 – 295, l. 3.

Defense counsel objected to this specific question and answer as improper bolstering. The court overruled the objection finding Swiecicki was “testifying generally.” R. 295, ll. 5-15.

Swiecicki then asserted, “Also if the abuse starts before the child is ten, so in younger children when the abuse started they are likely to delay disclosure. And then when the abuse is chronic as opposed to a one time incident, they are more likely to delay disclosure.” R. 295, ll. 16-21.

Defense counsel again objected to this testimony as improper bolstering and requested a “standing objection” based on bolstering grounds. R. 295, ll. 22-24. The judge overruled the objection, but granted the request for a “standing objection” as to bolstering. R. 295, l. 25.

When prompted by the solicitor, Swiecicki claimed children may not disclose abuse because of threats made by the alleged offender. R. 296, ll. 3-17. She also testified, based on another leading question from the solicitor, that just because a child is “away from an abuser totally” does not mean the child will necessarily disclose at that point. She stated, “The factors

related to delayed disclosure really apply regardless of whether the abuse is still going on. It's really just characteristics that impact the timing of that disclosure regardless of whether they are still in touch with that person." R. 298, ll. 8-16.

Again when asked a tailored leading question concerning whether children often tell friends or peers before disclosing to their parents, Swiecicki claimed "mothers and peers, are the two most common first people that children tell. And it depends on their age. Younger children are more likely to tell mother first. And then teens and older children are more likely to tell a peer first." R. 299, l. 19 – 300, l. 3. Swiecicki went on to testify about purposeful disclosures versus accidental disclosures, and her opinion that disclosure is a process, meaning a child discloses more details "over time as opposed to everything coming out at once." R. 300, l. 4 – 302, l. 6. She also discussed the impact of chronic abuse on memory. R. 302, l. 7 – 304, l. 4.

Lastly, Swiecicki testified about "common behavioral reactions" to sexual abuse, or the lack thereof. She claimed, "So sexual abuse victims are at higher risk for several behavior outcomes. Things like outbursts, self-injurious behavior, thoughts of self harm and then acting on those thoughts. For younger children temper tantrums, defiance, they are at higher risk for that." She maintained that there is "a range of possibilities and behavioral outcomes" and that "about 16 to 40 percent of children who have been abused experience those types of things." R. 304, ll. 5-18.

As far as "common emotional reactions" to sexual abuse, Swiecicki testified that "children who have been sexually abused are also at higher risk for things like sadness, nervousness, being jumpy, having nightmares, diagnosis of depression and post-traumatic stress disorder. They are at higher risk for those. Again, not all of them experience that, but they are at higher risk." R. 305, ll. 1-9. When prompted by the solicitor again with a tailored leading

question, Swiecicki claimed children who have been sexually abused often have a “flat affect,” especially during an interview about the abuse with someone the child does not know. She testified, “[A]ffect itself is the expression of emotion that we show sort of on our bodies and faces. Flat affect would be sort of looking none and having no emotion that you are really showing. It’s really considered to be part of the constellation of symptoms of post-traumatic stress disorder and depression. Both seem to have flat affect which is really kind of a numbing, looking numb emotionally.”¹ R. 305, l. 18 – 306, l. 5.

Closing Arguments

Capitalizing on Carole Swiecicki’s “expert” testimony, the assistant solicitor asserted during her closing argument:

But perhaps [the] most important and most difficult [difference between “child sexual assault cases” and other prosecutions] is that children as you heard commonly most often don’t tell right away. Whether that be fear of the Defendant, fear of hurting someone they love, fear of the unknown, fear of not being believed, or just using their common, everyday experience as a child which most of us have probably forgotten. When you’re a child, when you’re a kid you are at the mercy of those that take care of you. Adults do not take the word of children over adults most of the time. And kids know that.

R. 422, l. 1 – 423, l. 1.

Throughout her argument, the assist solicitor repeatedly used Swiecicki’s “expert” testimony to make excuses for the inconsistencies in Older Sister and Younger Sister’s accounts of the alleged sexual abuse and lend credibility to their allegations. For example, the solicitor asserted:

Dr. Swiecicki explained to you, one of the things she explained to you is that when events occur chronically or routinely or over more than a couple times and they are kind of the same, they are in the same place on the bed or in the

¹ This question and answer was likely a result of the fact that Younger Sister showed little to no emotion during her forensic interview when discussing the alleged sexual abuse. See State’s Exhibit No. 11.

bedroom kneeling on the floor, she didn't talk about that. The example she gave was driving to work. But that memories can mesh unless there is a unique things like the ankles of - - the bathing suit around the ankles when someone comes. That happened one time. That stands out. Going off in the car to the flea market happened one time so that kind of stands out. The first time stands out because it was the first time. Others more kind of blend together and become hard to distinguish.

R. 426, ll. 11-25.

She later argued:

Now, Younger Sister did tell them [the forensic interviewer] about the first incident and there was nothing in that that was inconsistent with what she told you in here. She told them [the forensic interviewer] and you about cunnilingus, which is licking her, fellatio, which is him putting his penis in her mouth, so she told you about the same things. And she left out in the interview about the flea market trip, but as Dr. Swiecicki explained, sometimes disclosure is a process and you may depending on the interview or how much time you may remember one of them. She may come in here again and say I forgot that and tell you about something else because she is retrieving her memory as it happens.

R. 427, l. 13 - 428, l. 2.

Lastly, the solicitor told the jury:

Ashley [Older Sister and Younger Sister's aunt] would expect the kids to stay away from someone if they were doing this. She would expect them not to want to go with someone if they were doing this. You know, that's not an unusual expectation. I understand totally why she would think that. That's what a lot of people think.

And that is exactly why Dr. Swiecicki came here and talked to you. Because that is what you want to think. She doesn't know - - to make it clear - - anything about this case or these people. She has talked about things that don't relate to this case. But in general children continue to stay around the person that is assaulting them. They go years without telling sometimes until adulthood she said. They just don't tell. They stay around the person. They learn to live with it. Because what's the option? They don't know what the option is. So they learn to live with it.

R. 440, ll. 3-23.

As seen, the solicitor frequently used Swiecicki's testimony to overcome the shortcomings and inconsistencies in Older Sister and Younger Sister's testimony and lend credibility to their allegations against Appellant.

During his closing argument to the jury, defense counsel attempted to challenge Swiecicki's testimony the best he could. He asserted:

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