ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Charleston County  
Honorable Roger L. Couch, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2017-000738

---

RECEIVED  
APR 18 2018  
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

BRIAN CHRISTOPHER DAUGHERTY,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

SCARLETT A. WILSON  
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

O.T. Wallace Building  
101 Meeting Street, Suite 400  
Charleston, SC 29401  
(843) 958-1900

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

## ARGUMENT

**The trial judge committed no error by qualifying a witness as an expert in child sexual abuse and permitting her to testify about general behavioral characteristics exhibited by juvenile victims of sexual abuse, such as delayed and incomplete disclosures, because the witness was personally qualified to testify on that subject matter based on her education, knowledge, training, and experience and because her testimony was beyond the common knowledge of the typical juror, could have assisted the jury in understanding the evidence presented during trial, met a threshold level of reliability, did not improperly vouch for or bolster the victims' testimony, and was not unduly prejudicial to Appellant.**

Appellant contends the trial judge abused his discretion by qualifying Dr. Swiecicki as an expert in the field of child sexual abuse and permitting her to testify about that subject matter during trial. In support of that contention, Appellant maintains Dr. Swiecicki's testimony was not outside the common knowledge of the typical juror, could not have assisted the jury in understanding the evidence presented, and improperly vouched for and bolstered the victims' testimony. To the contrary, Dr. Swiecicki was highly qualified as an expert in child sexual abuse based on her education, training, and experience, and her testimony addressed a reliable area of specialized behavioral and psychological knowledge beyond the common knowledge of the typical juror, was critical for the jurors to be able to properly evaluate and understand the victims' seemingly unusual behavior following the sexual abuse, and did not improperly bolster or vouch for the victims in any way. Under those circumstances, the trial judge did not abuse his broad discretion by qualifying Dr. Swiecicki as an expert in child sexual abuse and permitting her to testify before the jury during trial, and Appellant suffered no undue prejudice as a result of the expert's testimony. Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). Trial judges have considerable discretion in ruling on the admission or exclusion of evidence, and an appellate court will not reverse a trial judge's

ruling on evidentiary matters absent a clear abuse of that discretion resulting in prejudice to the defendant. State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 557, 564 S.E.2d 87, 93 (2002); see State v. Torres, 390 S.C. 618, 625, 703 S.E.2d 226, 230 (2010) (“The appellate court reviews a trial judge’s ruling on admissibility of evidence pursuant to an abuse of discretion standard and gives great deference to the trial court.”); State v. Kelley, 319 S.C. 173, 176, 460 S.E.2d 368, 370 (1995) (“A trial judge has considerable latitude in ruling on the admissibility of evidence and his rulings will not be disturbed absent a showing of probable prejudice.”); see also State v. Bixby, 388 S.C. 528, 556, 698 S.E.2d 572, 587 (2010) (“[D]eference is due to the trial court’s admission of the evidence.”). Likewise, a decision as to whether to admit or exclude expert testimony rests within the trial judge’s sound discretion and will not be reversed on appeal absent a prejudicial abuse of that discretion. State v. Price, 368 S.C. 494, 498, 629 S.E.2d 363, 365 (2006); see State v. White, 382 S.C. 265, 269, 676 S.E.2d 684, 686 (2009) (“A trial court’s decision to admit or exclude expert testimony will not be reversed absent a prejudicial abuse of discretion.”). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” State v. McDonald, 343 S.C. 319, 325, 540 S.E.2d 464, 467 (2000); see Fields v. Reg’l Med. Ctr. Orangeburg, 363 S.C. 19, 26, 609 S.E.2d 506, 509 (2005) (“A trial court’s ruling on the admissibility of an expert’s testimony constitutes an abuse of discretion when the ruling is manifestly arbitrary, unreasonable, or unfair.”).

### **ANALYSIS**

“Expert testimony may be used to help the jury to determine a fact in issue based on the expert’s specialized knowledge, experience, or skill and is necessary in cases in which the subject matter falls outside the realm of ordinary lay knowledge.” Watson v. Ford Motor Co., 389 S.C. 434, 445, 699 S.E.2d 169, 175 (2010). “Expert testimony differs from lay testimony in

that an expert witness is permitted to state an opinion based on facts not within his firsthand knowledge or may base his opinion on information made available before the hearing so long as it is the type of information that is reasonably relied upon in the field to make opinions.” Id. at 445-446, 699 S.E.2d at 175. “The qualification of a witness as an expert falls largely within the discretion of the trial judge.” State v. Myer, 301 S.C. 251, 255, 391 S.E.2d 551, 554 (1990).

Pursuant to the South Carolina Rules of Evidence, expert testimony is admissible under the following circumstances:

If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.

Rule 702, SCRE. Before admitting expert testimony, the trial judge must find: (1) the expert’s testimony will assist the trier of fact; (2) the expert has the required knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education; and (3) the testimony is reliable. State v. Martin, 391 S.C. 508, 514, 706 S.E.2d 40, 42 (Ct. App. 2011); see also State v. Jones, 343 S.C. 562, 572, 541 S.E.2d 813, 819 (2001) (“Scientific evidence is admissible under Rule 702, SCRE, if the trial judge determines: (1) the evidence will assist the trier of fact; (2) the expert witness is qualified; (3) the underlying science is reliable, applying the factors found in State v. Jones, 273 S.C. 723, 259 S.E.2d 120 (1979); and (4) the probative value of the evidence outweighs its prejudicial effect.”).

A witness can properly be qualified as an expert where “the witness has acquired by study or practical experience such knowledge of the subject matter of his testimony as would enable him to give guidance and assistance to the jury in resolving a factual issue which is beyond the scope of the jury’s good judgment and common knowledge.” State v. Henry, 329 S.C. 266, 273, 495 S.E.2d 463, 467 (Ct. App. 1997). In determining whether a witness’s

knowledge, skill, training, or experience qualifies the witness as an expert, no mandatory set of qualifications is required. Id. at 274, 495 S.E.2d at 467; see State v. Peer, 320 S.C. 546, 554-555, 466 S.E.2d 375, 380 (Ct. App. 1996) (“The criteria for admitting the testimony of an expert is not whether the expert holds a degree in the specialty field he seeks to testify about, but whether he has such expertise in a business, profession, or science that he is better qualified than the jury to form an opinion on the particular subject of his testimony.”). Instead, an expert can become sufficiently skilled or knowledgeable to be able to provide an opinion helpful to the jury in a multitude of ways. Fields v. J. Haynes Waters Builders, Inc., 376 S.C. 545, 556, 658 S.E.2d 80, 86 (2008). Significantly, “[t]he test for qualification [as an expert] is a relative one that is dependent on the particular witness’s reference to the subject[,]” and “defects in the amount and quality of education and experience go to the weight of the expert’s testimony and not its admissibility.” Lee v. Suess, 318 S.C. 283, 285-286, 457 S.E.2d 344, 346 (1995).

In addition to ensuring the expert is qualified, the trial judge must also ensure the testimony meets a threshold level of reliability, regardless of whether it is scientific or nonscientific. State v. Tapp, 398 S.C. 376, 388, 728 S.E.2d 468, 474-475 (2012). In cases involving scientific expert testimony, the trial court should consider the following factors: (1) the publications and peer review of the technique; (2) prior application of the method to the type of evidence involved in the case; (3) the quality control procedures used to ensure reliability; and (4) the consistency of the method with recognized scientific laws and procedures. State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 19, 515 S.E.2d 508, 517 (1999). However, in cases involving nonscientific expert testimony, the factors applied in an analysis of scientific evidence cannot readily be applied. See White, 382 S.C. at 274, 676 S.E.2d at 688 (“The foundational reliability requirement for expert testimony does not lend itself to a one-size-fits-all approach, for the

Council factors for scientific evidence serve no useful analytical purpose when evaluating nonscientific expert testimony.”). Accordingly, no formulaic approach can or must be applied to determine reliability in cases involving nonscientific expert testimony. Id.

Critically, in cases such as Appellant’s case where there are allegations of juvenile sexual abuse, “[e]xpert testimony concerning child abuse typically comes from two sources: medical evidence provided by physicians and **behavioral science evidence** provided by psychiatrists, psychologists, and social workers.” State v. Morgan, 326 S.C. 503, 508, 485 S.E.2d 112, 115 (Ct. App. 1997) (emphasis added), overruled on other grounds by State v. White, 382 S.C. 265, 676 S.E.2d 684 (2009). Regarding such testimony, appellate courts in South Carolina have consistently and repeatedly recognized “[e]xpert testimony concerning common behavioral characteristics of sexual assault victims and **the range of responses to sexual assault encountered by experts** is admissible.” State v. Weaverling, 337 S.C. 460, 474, 523 S.E.2d 787, 794 (Ct. App. 1999) (emphasis added); see also State v. Anderson, 413 S.C. 212, 218, 776 S.E.2d 76, 79 (2015) (“Certainly we recognize that there is such an expertise [in the field of child abuse assessment]: this is the type of expert who can, for example, testify to the behavioral characteristics of sex abuse victims.”).

Significantly, “[s]uch testimony is relevant and helpful in explaining to the jury the typical behavior patterns of adolescent victims of sexual assault.” Weaverling, 337 S.C. at 475, 523 S.E.2d at 794; see also State v. White, 361 S.C. 407, 415, 605 S.E.2d 540, 544 (2004) (“The purpose of rape trauma evidence is to prove the elements of criminal sexual conduct since such evidence may make it more or less probable the offense occurred.”). Moreover, rape trauma or behavioral characteristic evidence is often crucial in child sexual abuse cases because “[t]he inexperience and impressionability of children often render them unable to effectively articulate

the events giving rise to criminal sexual behavior.” White, 361 S.C. at 414-415, 605 S.E.2d at 544. Furthermore, rape trauma and behavioral characteristic evidence is also particularly important to explain the often unusual behavior exhibited by victims of sexual abuse that might be beyond the knowledge of the jurors. See Weaverling, 337 S.C. at 475, 523 S.E.2d at 794 (“It assists the jury in understanding some of the aspects of the behavior of victims and provides insight into the sexually abused child’s often strange demeanor.”); see also United States v. Lukashov, 694 F.3d 1107, 1117 (9th Cir. 2012) (“[The expert witness’s] testimony was helpful to the jury because some jurors would not have a general understanding of an eight-year-old’s sexual knowledge and vocabulary and the level of sensory detail to look for in a child’s allegations of sexual abuse.”); People v. Baenziger, 97 P.3d 271, 275 (Colo. Ct. App. 2004) (“Because the ‘lay notion of what behavior logically follows the experience of being raped may not be consistent with the actual behavior or which social scientists have observed from studying rape victims,’ expert testimony explaining these reactions is helpful to the jury in determining whether this delay should support the conclusion that the sexual assault did not occur.’ ” (citations omitted)); State v. Myers, 359 N.W.2d 604, 610 (Minn. 1984) (“The nature . . . of the sexual abuse of children places lay jurors at a disadvantage. . . . [T]he common experience of the jury may represent a less than adequate foundation for assessing the credibility of a young child who complains of sexual abuse. If the victim of a burglary failed to report the crime promptly, a jury would have good reason to doubt that person’s credibility. A young child subjected to sexual abuse, however, may for some time be either unaware or uncertain of the criminality of the abuser’s conduct. . . . [U]ncertainty becomes confusion when an abuser who fulfills a caring-parenting role in the child’s life tells the child that what seems wrong to the child is, in fact, all right. Because of the child’s confusion, shame, guilt, and fear, disclosure of the abuse is often

long delayed. When the child does complain of sexual abuse, the mother's reaction frequently is disbelief, and she fails to report the allegations to the authorities. By explaining the emotional antecedents of the victim's conduct and the peculiar impact of the crime on other members of the family, an expert can assist the jury in evaluating the credibility of the complainant."); People v. Carroll, 95 N.Y.2d 375, 387, 740 N.E.2d 1084, \_\_\_ (N.Y. 2000) ("We have long held that expert testimony regarding rape trauma syndrome, abused child syndrome or similar conditions may be admitted to explain behavior of a victim that might appear unusual or that jurors may not be expected to understand[.]"). Accordingly, both expert testimony and behavioral evidence can be admitted in child sexual abuse cases "where the probative value of such evidence outweighs its prejudicial effect." State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 506, 435 S.E.2d 859, 862 (1993).

In the case sub judice, testimony was presented—including through defense counsel's cross-examination of the victims—establishing the victims did not immediately disclose the sexual abuse inflicted upon them by Appellant and, instead, delayed disclosing that abuse for a number of years. Additionally, testimony was presented—including through defense counsel's cross-examination of the victims—establishing the victims did not reveal all the details of the abuse immediately and, instead, offered disclosures that progressed over time, that were somewhat inconsistent, and that were recanted at various points. Based on that testimony regarding seemingly strange and inconsistent behavior exhibited by the victims following the sexual abuse, expert testimony was needed in Appellant's case to educate the jury in regard to delayed disclosures and other behavior characteristics commonly exhibited by juvenile victims of sexual abuse so the jurors would be able to appropriately consider and evaluate the evidence regarding the victims' behavior in light of the fact the subject matter of the dynamics of child sexual abuse is a field of specialized psychological and behavioral knowledge outside the

common knowledge and experience of ordinary jurors. See State v. Brown, 411 S.C. 332, 341, 768 S.E.2d 246, 251 (Ct. App. 2015) (finding expert testimony in a child sexual abuse case, including testimony in regard to delayed disclosures, was necessary and relevant to a fact in issue because Brown’s victims delayed disclosing the abuse for nearly three years and because ordinary jurors might not have experience with issues such as delayed disclosure); see also State v. McDonnell, 141 Haw. 280, \_\_\_, 409 P.3d 684, 698 (Haw. 2017) (finding expert testimony regarding the disclosure process of juvenile victims of sexual abuse was probative, not unduly prejudicial, and properly admitted where “there was no other testimony to explain why Minor may have failed to initially disclose the full extent of the abuse” aside from the expert witness’s behavioral science testimony). For that reason, the State was required to—and did—present an expert in the field of child sexual abuse in order to educate the jury on that subject matter and to ensure the jury was capable of properly understanding and evaluating the evidence presented. See Anderson, 413 S.C. at 221, n. 6, 776 S.E.2d at 80 (recognizing it is necessary for a witness to be an expert to testify in regard to delayed disclosures in sexual abuse cases); see also Rule 702, SCRE (“If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact **to understand the evidence** or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.” (emphasis added)).

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